THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAR 14 2023

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
SC Workers' Compensation Commission
Appellate Panel

Appellate Case No. 2022-000282

Michael K. Crowley, Employee,Appellant,

v.

Darlington County, Employer, and
SC Association of Counties SIF, Carrier,Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Preston F. McDaniel
McDANIEL LAW FIRM
1315 Elmwood Avenue
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 771-7211

and

Gerald Malloy
MALLOY LAW FIRM
Post Office Box 1200
Hartsville, SC 29551
(843) 339-3000

Attorneys for the Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE COMMISSION ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW, BY NOT MAKING AN AWARD TO DEPUTY CROWLEY OF TOTAL AND PERMANENT DISABILITY FOR HAVING LOST 50% OR MORE OF THE FUNCTIONAL USE OF HIS BACK TO DO WORK WITH HIS BACK BASED ON 1) THE RELIABLE, PROBATIVE AND SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD ON THE "ESSENTIAL ISSUE" FOR DECISION UNDER SC CODE §42-9-30(21), "LOSS OF USE" OF THE BACK, AND 2) BY FAILING TO ADDRESS THAT ESSENTIAL ISSUE IN ITS FINDINGS OF FACT?

- II. DID THE COMMISSION ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW AND FACT BY FAILING TO AWARD THE CLAIMANT TOTAL AND PERMANENT DISABILITY UNDER SC CODE §42-9-10 FOR LOSS OF EARNING CAPACITY?

- III. DID THE COMMISSION ERR BY ADMITTING AND NOT EXCLUDING THE MEDICAL OPINION AND EVALUATION REPORT OF DR. JAMES BETHEA WHERE THE DEFENDANTS VIOLATED AND FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE MANDATORY PROVISIONS OF SC CODE §42-15-95?

- IV. DID THE COMMISSION ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW BY MAKING FINDINGS OF FACT 22, 23, 24, 25, 26 & 27, WHICH ARE NOT FINDINGS OF FACT BUT CONTAIN LEGAL ARGUMENTS, POSITIONS, OPINIONS AND CITATIONS NOT PRESENTED TO THE COMMISSION BY EITHER PARTY WHICH THUS CONSTITUTES THE COMMISSION GOING OUTSIDE OF THE RECORD AND ARGUMENTS MADE BY THE PARTIES AND THE DECISION BEING BASED ON A LEGAL ANALYSIS NOT PRESENTED BY THE PARTIES?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arises out of two accidents, both accepted, in part for medical care; with the second resulting in disability. May 2, 2017 (WCC #1716288), Deputy Crowley and another Deputy were transporting juveniles and were involved in an altercation restraining one juvenile. He was taken by ambulance to the ER and provided medical care for his low back and right leg; thereafter his leg. After returning to regular duty, January 3, 2018 (WCC #1801098) Deputy Crowley was assisting a motorist during an ice storm and while pushing a stranded vehicle sustained a severe fall and was taken by ambulance to the ER. Dr. Nigel Watt was then authorized to treat his right leg and requested medical care for his low back, which was denied. After January 2018 Deputy Crowley worked at the courthouse in a sedentary position. After continued refusal of low back treatment, a Form 50 was filed on February 5th (R. p. 67)) and hearing set. (R. p. 69). After authorized evaluations but no treatment hearing was reset January 28, 2019. Before hearing, Respondents agreed to provide medical care.

On December 16, 2019, Respondents filed a Form 21 to pay compensation per the Form 14B completed by the authorized treating physicians with restrictions per the Functional Capacity Evaluation ("FCE") of sedentary work only. (R. 86). Appellant filed a Response that he was entitled to an Award for

total and permanent disability for having lost 50% or more of the use of his back and/or a total loss of earning capacity. (R. p. 93). A hearing set for March 25, 2020, due to COVID and mandatory mediation, was cancelled. Mandatory mediation resulted in an impasse and a Form 70 directed the matter be reset on all issues (R. p. 96). Hearing on the Respondents' Forms 21 was reset October 22, 2020, before Commissioner Beck. Pre-Hearing Briefs and Amended Pre-Hearing Brief was filed by the Claimant. (R. 97). At a pre-hearing conference on October 22nd due to a worsening of his problems, Claimant requested, and Respondents agreed to a "second opinion for the low back" with a "specialist" at the Medical University of South Carolina by Consent Order. (R. p. 1).

On January 4, 2021 Respondents refiled a Form 21 which included a report from Dr. James F. Bethea dated 12/17/20 with MUSC, "Health West Orthopaedics" (R. p. 103). January 13th Claimant filed a request for a conference with Commissioner Beck or to file Claimant's Counsel's Affidavit concerning the pre-hearing conference; and a response to the Form 21. (R. p. 1268). Hearing was set for March 4, 2021, and Pre-Hearing Briefs/APA Submissions were filed. (R. p. 113, p. 866, p. 1151).

January 28th Claimant requested a pre-hearing conference to exclude the report of Dr. Bethea or to ensure Claimant's right

to cross-examine him by Subpoena or deposition at Respondents' expense. (R. pp. 1070-1076).

After hearing March 19th Claimant submitted additional legal authority concerning Hearing objections. (R. p. 1275).

April 13th request for a proposed Order and notes on findings of fact and directives (R. p. 1283) was filed and a Decision filed July 6th awarding Appellant 10% disability to his right leg, and 25% permanent partial disability to his back. (R. p. 3). A Motion for Reconsideration was filed July 7th (Motion, 7/7/21), and denied July 23rd. (R. p. 3). A Request for Full Commission Review was filed August 6th (R. p. 38). Briefs were filed and a review hearing was held December 20, 2021. (R. p. 1288, p. 1106, p. 1134, p. 1245). The Full Commission affirmed without any additional Findings or Conclusions of Law on February 1, 2022. (R. p. 40). A Notice of Appeal attaching both Orders and Full Commission Exceptions was filed. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Deputy Crowley worked with the Society Hill Police Dept. from 2005 to 2013 when he went to Darlington County as a Road

Deputy with rotating night and day shifts, 12 hours per day, two weeks each. (R. p. 1187, p. 1189). In 2015 at his superior officers' recommendations, he was promoted to the Fox Trot Unit, an all-day shift job and in 2016 was promoted to Corporal. (R. p. 1163, p. 1164, pp. 1172-1174, p. 1189, p. 1190, p. 1191). After an automobile wreck in 2015 he had cervical spine surgery due to bad headaches following the wreck after which his headaches were greatly improved but he continued to take pain medication for headaches through Integrated Pain Solutions ("IPS") in Laurinburg, North Carolina; importantly with the complete knowledge and cooperation of the Darlington County Sheriff's Dept. and was on those pain medications at the time of the first accident. (R. p. 1191, p. 1194).

On May 5, 2017 while transporting juveniles and during a scuffle to restrain one, he twisted his knee and injured his low back to the degree he was taken by ambulance to Carolina Pines Hospital. Medical care was then authorized with Hartsville Primary Care for knee and low back sprain (Tr. p. 44, l. 10-p. 45, l. 22) and then because of continuing knee problems with Dr. Nigel Watt. Both of their records clearly note he was under pain medication/management for his neck through IPS. (R. p. 1194, l. 11-p. 1197, l. 2; p. 135). After light duty he returned to regular duty November 5, 2017 in the Fox Trot Unit. (Emp. add.) (R. p. 142).

On January 3, 2018 during an ice storm he was called to Society Hill where several cars were stuck on a hill with one vehicle turned sideways in the road. While assisting in trying to turn the car, he fell on the ice. His recollection of exactly what happened is limited but remembers his hands on the car, slipping and falling, and then remembers his back and right leg both hurting and again being taken by EMS to Carolina Pines Emergency Room. Follow-up care with Dr. Nigel Watt in Florence (R. p. 1199, l. 1-p. 1200, l. 25) was authorized for the leg but when he ordered an MRI of the low back, Defendants denied authorization even though Dr. Watt in his records stated his opinion the problems with the Claimant's lumbar spine (low back) were a direct result of the January 3, 2018 accident. February 23, 2018 Dr. Watt restricted Deputy Crowley to sedentary work only with no jumping or lifting. (R. p. 1200, l. 10-p. 1201, l. 14). Only after a hearing request were low back evaluations by Dr. Joseph Cheatle in Myrtle Beach, August 15 and November 14, 2018 authorized. In August Dr. Cheatle noted Claimant had a remote history of back and leg symptoms but nothing recently and agreed with Dr. Nigel Watt that his problems with his lumbar spine stemmed from his work-related injury on January 3, 2017. (R. p. 1001). After an MRI of the lumbar spine in November he referred him for a spinal cord stimulator trial with Dr. Barbara Sarb, neurologist in Florence. (R. p. 998). Only after filing

for a hearing was care finally authorized through Dr. Sarb and Florence Neurosurgery & Spine Center. (R. p. 1201, l. 14-p. 1202, l. 21; pp. 987-988). Dr. Watt, Dr. Cheadle and Dr. Sarb all recorded his continuing medications for his neck and headaches, through IPS. (R. pp. 987, 995, 997, 1000).

He was first evaluated on December 11, 2018 and treated by Dr. Sarb and Dr. Naso through November 21, 2019, with treatment including injections; referral for psychological testing for a spinal cord stimulator; two (2) spinal cord stimulator trials; and EMG/NCS studies which confirmed a right "L5 radiculopathy". (R. p. 1007, p. 1010). The first spinal cord stimulator trial was in February 2019; L5-S1 epidural steroid injection, 6/28/19; continuing treatment and second spinal cord stimulator trial, September 2019. (R. p. 922, pp. 962-963).

Throughout the entire course of treatment, he was continued on the same sedentary only work restrictions including no: jumping, lifting, repetitive bending, running, repetitive stooping, continual walking. (R. p. 979). At release November 21, 2019 he was prescribed a TENS Unit, future periodic physical therapy; continuing medications from IPS were recorded and per the FCE was placed at sedentary work only. (R. pp. 949, 953, 961, 967, 971, 972, 975, 978-980, 982, 986, 989; emp. add.).

Defendants chosen FCE October 25, 2019 found Deputy Crowley gave valid and consistent effort; could lift zero pounds below

waist height; 10 pounds chest height and overhead; carry 15 pounds; push and pull 20 pounds; noted his lumbar spine limitations on range of motion; he could only occasionally tolerate walking, stooping, crouching, and climbing; he could not kneel; and could only perform within the "sedentary physical demand category". (R. p. 886).

From the time Dr. Watt placed the Claimant on sedentary work duties only following the January 2018 accident until disability retirement in January 2021, Deputy Crowley was transferred from the Fox Trot Unit to courthouse security at the Darlington County Courthouse but in a Deputy Sheriff's position. On February 13th 2020, he obtained a statement from Dr. Naso requested by the Sheriff so he could remain in the Deputy Sheriff position but working courthouse security. Dr. Naso's statement stated he was to comply with the restrictions of the FCE but that he could carry a weapon and taser so as to accompany and provide a Judge security throughout the Courthouse including lunch. (R. p. 1206, l. 4-p. 1210, l. 5).

On December 16, 2019, Defendants filed a Form 21 to pay compensation to which Claimant responded he was entitled to an Award for total and permanent disability. (R. p. 80; p. 93).

After an impasse at mandatory mediation, the claim was set for hearing on October 22nd and APA Submissions filed, including a report from IPS that their most recent treatment reports confirmed, both the change in his reported problems and in their objective findings, that the need for treatment was now mainly the low back and right leg. (R. p. 97). At the October 22nd pre-hearing conference Claimant due to recent worsening problems with the right leg and low back, requested an evaluation by a "specialist". By Consent Order Defendants agreed to send Claimant for a "second opinion for his low back" to the Medical University of South Carolina ("MUSC") with a doctor of their choosing. (R. p. 1). (Emp. add.)

Without notice to the Claimant between October and the date of the examination in December of 2020 Defendants had numerous communications with Dr. Bethea, (not MUSC Dept. of Orthopaedics faculty), (Cl. APA Submissions pp. 154-170) which included a detailed letter on October 27, 2020 requesting the evaluation and attaching hundreds of pages of medical records and listing numerous issues Defendants wanted addressed outside of treatment, including maximum medical improvement, an impairment rating, and his opinion on restrictions. (R. pp. 1054-1055). The communications included correspondence concerning payment for the "Independent Medical Evaluation (IME)" totaling \$5,000.00. (R. pp. 1036-1037).

January 4, 2021 Defendants refiled the Form 21 to pay compensation which attached a previously unknown report of Dr. Bethea. (R. p. 103). The first notice Claimant had of the communications and that records had been forwarded to Dr. Bethea and the letter setting forth the issues Defendants wanted addressed was in response to his January 6, 2021 Subpoena for records served on Dr. Bethea. In his January 13th Form 21 Response objected to Dr. Bethea's report being admitted as a violation of SC Code §42-15-95. (R. pp. 1020-1024). Also, after knowledge of the letter and records Claimant scheduled the de bene esse deposition of Dr. Bethea,

"for purposes of cross-examination pursuant to, and including, but not limited to, SC Code §1-23-320; §1-23-330(3); §42-3-160..."

(R. pp. 1056-1061); rescheduled by agreement to January 27th at his office. On January 22nd Dr. Bethea's office notified Claimant's Counsel he would not appear without prepayment of a fee. On January 26th because Dr. Bethea would not appear without prepayment of the deposition fee, scheduled to exercise Claimant's right of cross-examination, and Defendants' refusal to pay the fee, Claimant cancelled the deposition. (R. p. 1037).

On January 28th Claimant requested a preliminary hearing to exclude Dr. Bethea's report from evidence for failure to comply with SC Code §42-15-95; or barring exclusion, a Commission Subpoena for him to appear or requiring Defendants pay for a

deposition for Claimant to exercise his right of cross-examination. Claimant cited US and SC Supreme Court cases holding a litigant in any adjudicatory administrative hearing under due process is guaranteed the right of cross-examination. (R. pp. 1070-1071). No preliminary hearing was held, no Commission Subpoena was issued, nor were Defendants required to pay for a deposition.

Pre-Hearing Briefs/APA Submissions were filed. Claimant's Pre-Hearing Brief position: entitlement to an Award for total and permanent disability based on: 1) a total loss of earning capacity under §42-9-10(A); and/or 2) due to the character of his injury under SC Code §42-9-30(21) wherein he had lost 50% or more of the functional use of his back to do work with his back. (R. p. 866).

At hearing over objection, Defendants were allowed to submit medical records from medical providers including IPS for dates prior to the first May 9, 2017 injury. Among numerous objections made, Claimant specifically objected to the prior medical records being admitted without medical opinion establishing any relevance/causal relationship between the past medical treatment and his current problems in reference to his low back and right leg as calling for speculation on behalf of the Commissioner; and that he would withdraw any objection if Defendants showed any such opinion in the Record. (R. p. 1165,

11. 2-7). The following specific objection was made:

"But there is no doctor, no medical opinion, that relates any of his current existing problems. There is no medical opinion that they are in any way related to any of those past medical treatments and so it would be calling -- it would be asking you to speculate as to the relationship of those records to his current condition without such medical testimony ... otherwise, they are irrelevant, immaterial, and all -- and call for speculation on your behalf as to what the meaning are of those records." (R. p. 1166, ll. 16-24, p. 1167, l. 8). (Emp. add.)

Defendants' response was the past medical records go to the issue of credibility and to show the history of his pain complaints. (Tr. p. 17, ll. 17-20).

On both essential issues for decision, wage loss and loss of use of the back, Deputy Crowley testified he had a 12th grade education, attended the Police Academy and Fire Service.

Past work experience: first job Marley Electrical Heating on the production line which required a lot of bending, stooping and lifting; left after approximately two (2) years due to a general layoff. Next job Galey & Lord, a cloth printing plant working on the line dyeing and printing cloth requiring lifting 50-100 lb. rolls, and bending, stooping and lifting; left due to Plant shut down. Next job Delta Mills, a cloth print/dyeing mill operating a dye machine requiring heavy lifting, pushing, pulling and loading; after seven (7) years left to attend the Police Academy and to work for the Society Hill Police Dept. In his opinion, due to the condition of his back and leg he could no longer do any of those jobs because of bending, stooping, and

heavy lifting requirements. (R. p. 1182, ll. 20-22; p. 1183, ll. 1, 9-14, 22-24, p. 1184, l. 6; p. 1185, ll. 10, 14, 16-p. 1186, ll. 10-15, 19-23; p. 1186, l. 1-p. 1187, l. 2).

He worked as a Police Officer for the town of Society Hill for approximately eight (8) or nine (9) years where his job duties included running radar, answering calls, doing a lot of riding, checking property, domestic relations calls, drunks, and normal police work of restraining and detaining suspects. He could not return to that job because of the job requirements including, "calls with wrestling - and fighting - with people and handcuffing - and sitting in the -- and everything that is involved, it would be too much for me." He also testified he can only sit for 10-15 minutes before his back begins to hurt really bad and he has to move around because of irritation, particularly in his leg. (R. p. 1187, l. 8-p. 1189, l. 1).

In January 2021 he was medically retired on Police Officer's Disability Retirement from the Darlington County Sheriff's Dept. due to the condition of his low back and leg.

From a physical standpoint in reference to his ability to work, the FCE established the Claimant was only capable of sedentary work and he could not even meet the full range of jobs in the sedentary category and has restrictions on his ability to bend, stoop, and lift, and even to sit and to stand. (R. pp. 869-870).

Ms. Harriet Fowler, Claimant's vocational expert opined that without the "extensive" accommodations being provided at the courthouse and with his limitations even in the sedentary category, which requires him to make positional changes at least every thirty (30) minutes, in reference to job market access, it was more likely than not that the Claimant would not be able to obtain and maintain substantial gainful employment. (R. pp. 930-932). Defendants records review vocational analysis found eleven (11) jobs available in the sedentary physical demand level within fifty (50) miles of Mr. Crowley's home in Bennettsville with most being in the Florence area. After noting the accommodations being made at the courthouse, and that the jobs identified were in the sedentary category, he noted:

"sedentary work involves sitting most of the time but may involve walking or standing for brief periods. Jobs are sedentary if walking and standing are required only occasionally, **and all other sedentary criteria are met.**"

He then concluded:

"It is this CRC's opinion that Mr. Crowley is a viable candidate for vocational rehabilitation services and will benefit from his continued participation with those services." (R. pp. 845-849; p. 855).

The evaluator found "with a reasonable degree of certainty Mr. Crowley cannot return to work in his pre-injury occupation as a Deputy." (R. p. 856). Thus, there is no evidence in the Record Deputy Crowley could return to any job in which he has a background and experience.

In reference to the other essential issue for decision "loss of use" of the back to do work requiring the use of the back, Deputy Crowley testified that due to the condition of his back and leg he could not return to any of the jobs in which he has a background and experience and in his opinion in reference to the percentage of loss of use of the back he would, "say probably about 80"; i.e., he had lost 80% of the use of his back to do work. (R. p. 1222, l. 2-21).

The FCE established that out of the five (5) physical demand classification categories of the US Dept. of Labor into which all jobs in the economy are classified Deputy Crowley was only physically qualified for "some" jobs within the sedentary duty classification. Because he was unable to perform the physical requirements of lifting from floor to waist and 12" to knuckle, he would not qualify for some jobs in the sedentary category. (R. pp. 868-870).

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