THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

---

Appellate Case No.: 2022-000282

---

**RECEIVED**  
MAR 10 2023  
SC Court of Appeals

Michael K. Crowley, Employee, .....Appellant,

vs.

Darlington County, Employer, and  
South Carolina Association of Counties SIF, Carrier..... Respondents.

---

**RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF**

---

J. Gabriel Coggiola, Esquire  
Willson, Jones, Carter & Baxley  
3600 Forest Dr., Suite 204  
Columbia, SC 29204  
(803) 227-2884  
jgcoggiola@wjcblaw.com  
Attorney for Respondents

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **Whether the substantial evidence in the record supports the Commission's finding that Appellant sustained 25% permanent partial disability to his back pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30 as a result of his January 3, 2018, work accident?**
- II. **Whether the substantial evidence in the record supports the Commission's finding that Appellant is not permanently and totally disabled pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10 for loss of earning capacity?**
- III. **Whether the Commission properly admitted and considered the December 17, 2020 medical report of Dr. James Bethea as part of the evidence in the record?**
- IV. **Whether the Commission erred by making certain findings of fact alleged by Appellant to contain legal arguments, positions, opinions, and citations not presented to the Commission by the parties and therefore making a decision based on an improper legal analysis?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter involves workers' compensation claims stemming from two (2) admitted work accidents sustained by Claimant Michael Crowley (hereinafter "Appellant") arising out of and in the course and scope of his employment with Defendant Darlington County (hereinafter "Respondents"). Appellant was involved in his first accident on May 5, 2017, when he was attempting to restrain a combative juvenile and injured his right knee. Respondents provided Appellant with appropriate and causally related medical treatment with Dr. Nigel Watt, who released Appellant at maximum medical improvement (hereinafter "MMI") on October 5, 2017. (R. p. 142). At that time, Dr. Watt assigned Appellant a permanent physical impairment of 5% to the right lower extremity due to knee injury. (Id.) Dr. Watt recommended Appellant be allowed to return to his normal work duties without restrictions. (Id.). On December 4, 2017, Dr. Watt completed a Form 14B<sup>1</sup>, wherein he reiterated his opinion of 5% impairment to the right lower

---

<sup>1</sup> The Form 14B "Physician's Statement" is the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission's form that is used by a person's treating physician to provide the physician's opinion concerning whether the patient has reached MMI, whether the patient has any permanent physical impairment, the body part(s) affected, work restrictions and future medical needs.

extremity, assigned no permanent work restrictions, and stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that Appellant did not require any additional medical, surgical, hospital, or other treatment that Appellant needed as a result of his injury for an additional time that would tend to lessen his period of disability or maintain his current level of function. (R. p. 144).

Shortly after his release at MMI for the May 2017 injury, Appellant was involved in a second admitted accident on January 3, 2018, wherein he was assisting in the removal of a car from an icy road, and he reinjured his right knee. Additionally, he sustained a new injury to his lumbar spine. Respondents again provided Appellant with appropriate and causally related medical treatment to Appellant's right knee with Dr. Watt. On January 31, 2019, Dr. Watt opined that Appellant would not require further orthopedic care for his right knee as he was already established with a pain management physician for his right lower extremity. (R. p. 105). Dr. Watt did not assign any additional impairment as a result of Appellant's second work accident. Respondents obtained a second opinion for Appellant's right knee injury with Dr. Richard Friedman, who, on October 1, 2020, stated Appellant was at MMI and opined Appellant suffered no permanent impairment, had no permanent limitations, and would not require any future medical treatment. (R. pp. 858–859).

With respect to his back, Respondents initially authorized an evaluation of Appellant's lumbar spine with Dr. Joseph Cheatle on August 15, 2018. (R. pp. 365–367). Dr. Cheatle causally related Appellant's symptoms to his January 3, 2018, work accident and referred Appellant for an MRI of his lumbar spine. (R. p. 367). Following his MRI, Appellant returned to Dr. Cheatle on November 14, 2018, and Dr. Cheatle stated Appellant's MRI was negative for stenosis and referred Appellant for an evaluation as to the medical necessity and feasibility of a spinal cord stimulator (hereinafter "SCS"). (R. p. 369). Appellant underwent a SCS trial at the direction of Dr. Barbara Sarb on February 18, 2019. (R. pp. 372–374). On February 25, 2019, Dr. Sarb removed the leads

from Appellant's SCS trial. (R. p. 379). Appellant underwent a second trial SCS, and on September 20, 2019, Dr. Sarb removed the leads from his second trial and noted Appellant's failure to see appreciable relief with the SCS. (R. p. 959). Dr. Sarb indicated Appellant could follow up with neurosurgery as already scheduled. (R. p. 960). Appellant received authorized neurosurgical treatment with Dr. William Naso, who released Appellant at MMI on November 21, 2019, and stated, "[h]e completed his FCE which placed him at a sedentary job description. I think he can continue to work at his current capacity which he says he is tolerating." (R. pp. 949–950). On December 1, 2019, Dr. Naso completed a Form 14B, wherein he assigned an 8% whole person impairment rating, or 10.7% to the lumbar spine, assigned permanent work restrictions per Appellant's FCE, and recommended future medical treatment to consist of a TENS unit and physical therapy. (R. p. 428). On February 13, 2020, Dr. Naso provided a letter to Appellant's employer, stating,

From a neurosurgical standpoint, [Claimant] can continue to work in his current capacity, which includes being able to carry a weapon and taser. He can also accompany a judge, providing the judge security inside and outside a court room, including at lunch. Otherwise, his restrictions as outlined in his functional capacity evaluation remain.

(R. p. 429).

Following his release at MMI for the lumbar spine, Appellant requested a second opinion for his lumbar spine, which Respondents agreed to provide. On December 17, 2020, Appellant presented to Dr. Bethea, who diagnosed Appellant with chronic lumbar syndrome and stated that Appellant's subjective complaints were out of line with his objective findings. (R. pp. 860–862). Dr. Bethea released Appellant at MMI and assigned a 3% whole person impairment, assigned no permanent work restrictions, and opined Appellant would not require future medical treatment. (R. pp. 861–862).

In addition to the medical providers described above, Appellant was also sent by his attorney for one-time independent medical evaluation with Dr. Leonard Forest on January 30,

2020. In a letter from Dr. Forest to Appellant's attorney, Dr. Forest stated,

With regard to impairment rating for Deputy Crowley's back, his condition is best fit into DRE category 3 as defined by the Fifth Edition of the AMA Guides. For this, I would assign a 13% whole person impairment rating. Using the conversion as defined in the Fifth Edition of the AMA Guides. This would equate to a 17% regional impairment rating.

(R. p. 913).

In addition to the medical treatment described above, Respondents obtained a vocational evaluation and labor market survey with James Myers, MA, QRP, CCM, CRP at Corvel. On April 10, 2020, Mr. Myers prepared a vocational assessment report wherein he opined that based on the recommendations of Appellant's physicians and the Functional Capacity Evaluation (hereinafter "FCE"), Appellant should be able to return to work in a sedentary to light physical demand level. (R. p. 855). Mr. Myers prepared a "Labor Market Survey" wherein he identified a list of jobs Appellant could perform based on his transferrable skills and physical limitations, including: desk officer; fraud investigator; management aid; dispatcher; surveillance system monitor; customer service representative; collection manager; code inspector; service advisor; information clerk; telephone solicitor; and file/office clerk. (R. p. 844). Mr. Myers conducted a labor market survey of twelve (12) employers within a 50-mile radius of Bennettsville, South Carolina, and of the twelve (12) employers contacted, 100% reported they were either hiring or would be hiring in the near future. (R. pp. 844-849).

It is worth noting that throughout the course of both of his claims, Appellant continued working for Respondents, who accommodated his work restrictions, until his resignation on January 5, 2021. At the hearing, Appellant testified that his resignation was voluntary and was, in part, due to issues he was having with the Sheriff's Department. (R. p. 1236, lines 10-19).

On January 4, 2021, Respondents filed a Form 21, request for hearing, seeking an adjudication of Appellant's entitlement to permanent partial disability (hereinafter "PPD") and a

determination of what, if any, future medical treatment Appellant was entitled to in order to maintain his level of disability at MMI. (R. pp. 103–104).

On January 13, 2021, counsel for Appellant noticed the *de bene esse* deposition of Dr. Bethea, set for January 27, 2021. (R. pp. 1056–1061). However, Appellant’s counsel cancelled the deposition after learning the fees associated with taking Dr. Bethea’s deposition and asserted Respondents were responsible for the cost of the deposition. (R. p. 1160, lines 21–25 –p.1161, lines 1–4). In the alternative, Counsel for Appellant requested that either Respondents pay for the deposition, or the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission issue a subpoena to Dr. Bethea for live testimony at the hearing. (R. p. 1161, lines 1–14). Respondents argued that Appellant had ample time to conduct Dr. Bethea’s deposition and asserted there was no existing statutory, regulatory, or case law supporting Appellant’s position that Respondents should bear the cost of the deposition sought by Appellant’s counsel. (R. p. 1163, lines 1–17).

The case was heard by a Single Commissioner on March 4, 2021. At the hearing, in addition to his objections concerning the introduction of Dr. Bethea’s medical report pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-95 and the violation of his rights to due process resulting from him having to pay for the deposition of Dr. Bethea and the Commission’s failure to subpoena Dr. Bethea as witness, Appellant objected to the introduction of any medical records pre-dating Claimant’s initial date of accident on the grounds that there was no medical expert opinion causally relating the prior medical records to his current complaints, and Appellant’s prior medical records were irrelevant, immaterial, and call for speculation as to the pertinence of the records. (R. pp. 1164–1167). Respondents argued there was no statutory, regulatory, or case law support for this position. Defendants argued the records were germane to Claimant’s credibility and the history of his pain complaints. (R. p. 1167, lines 13–21).

On July 6, 2021, the Single Commissioner issued a Decision and Order, wherein he found

that Appellant reached MMI effective November 21, 2019. (R. p. 33). The Single Commissioner awarded Appellant 10% permanent partial disability (hereinafter “PPD”) to his right lower extremity as a result of both the May 5, 2017, and January 3, 2018, accidents. (R. pp. 33–34). The Single Commissioner awarded Claimant 25% PPD to his back as a result of his January 3, 2018, work accident. (R. p. 34). The Single Commissioner further found that Claimant was entitled to future medical treatment to the back to include physical therapy and a TENS Unit in order to maintain his level of disability as MMI as set forth by his authorized treating physician, Dr. Naso. (R. p. 34). The Single Commissioner denied Appellant’s objection to the admissibility of Appellant’s pre-accident medical records and found that Appellant’s rights to due process were not denied. (R. pp. 31–33).

On August 6, 2021, Appellant filed a Form 30 request for Full Commission review. (R. pp. 1095–1105). Following briefing of by the parties, oral arguments were held before the Full Commission Appellate Panel (hereinafter “Full Commission”) on December 20, 2021. On February 1, 2022, the Full Commission issued an Appellate Panel Decision and Order, wherein they affirmed the decision of the Single Commissioner in Full. (R. p. 65).

On March 7, 2022, Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal with this Court. This appeal follows.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“The Administrative Procedures Act (APA) provides the standard for judicial review of decisions by the [Appellate Panel].” Pierre v. Seaside Farms, Inc., 386 S.C. 534, 540, 689 S.E.2d 615, 618 (2010). “[An appellate] court can reverse or modify the [Appellate Panel]’s decision if it is affected by an error of law or is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence in the whole record.” Id. “Substantial evidence is not a mere scintilla of evidence, but evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds

to reach the conclusion the agency reached.” *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted). The possibility of drawing two different conclusions from the evidence does not prevent a finding from being supported by substantial evidence. *Hall v. Desert Aire, Inc.*, 376 S.C. 338, 348, 656 S.E.2d 753, 758 (Ct.App.2007).

“Where there are conflicts in the evidence over a factual issue, the findings of the [Appellate Panel] are conclusive.” *Hall v. United Rentals, Inc.*, 371 S.C. 69, 80, 636 S.E.2d 876, 882 (Ct.App. 2006). “The [Appellate Panel] is the ultimate fact finder in [w]orkers’ [c]ompensation cases...” *Hargrove v. Titan Textile Co.*, 360 S.C. 276, 289, 599 S.E.2d 604, 611 (Ct.App. 2004). The final determination of witness credibility and the weight of the evidence is for the Appellate Panel. *Id.* “Where the medical evidence conflicts, the findings of fact of the [Appellate Panel] are conclusive.” *Mullinax v. Winn–Dixie Stores, Inc.*, 318 S.C. 431, 435, 458 S.E.2d 76, 78 (Ct.App. 1995).

### **ARGUMENTS/DISCUSSION**

#### **I. The substantial evidence in the record supports the Commission’s finding that Appellant sustained 25% permanent partial disability to his back pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30(21) as result of his January 3, 2018, work accident.**

Appellant argues the Commission failed to find him permanently and totally disabled for having sustained greater than 50% loss of use to the back pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30(21), often referred to as the “scheduled member statute.” The scheduled member statute states, in relevant part, that:

In cases included in the following schedule, the disability in each case is considered to continue for the period specified and the compensation paid for the injury is as specified...for the *loss of use* of the back in cases where the loss of use is forty-nine percent or less, sixty-six and two-thirds of the average weekly wages during three hundred weeks. In cases where there is fifty percent or more loss of use to the back, sixty-six and two-thirds percent the average weekly wage during five hundred weeks...in cases where there is fifty percent or more loss of use of the back the injured employee shall be presumed to have suffered total and permanent disability and compensated under Section 42-9-10(B). *The presumption set forth in this item is rebuttable.*

S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30(21) (emphasis added).

Appellant goes on to provide an extensive history of our appellate courts' treatment of cases involving permanent partial disability to the back leading up to the 2007 amendment of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30(21), which, significantly, added the statement that the presumption of total and permanent disability is rebuttable. Appellant states that since the 2007 amendment, neither the South Carolina Court of Appeals nor Supreme Court has addressed whether wage loss is to be considered in a scheduled member award. Appellant then goes on to reference the Supreme Court's holding in Clemmons v. Lowes Home Centers, Inc.,<sup>2</sup> erroneously stating that the Court held that the legislature did not intend to infuse wage loss into a scheduled member award and that whether a claimant was working was insufficient to defeat the presumption created by S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30(21).<sup>3</sup>

Respondents respectfully submit that Appellant's colloquium on the history of the Commission's treatment of § 42-9-30 and its treatment of disability to the back up to the present version of S.C. Code Ann. 42-9-30(21) is irrelevant to pertinent issue in case at hand. Unlike the case in Clemmons, there is ample evidence in the record of this case to support the Commission's finding of less than 50% loss of use to the back, or in this case, 25% percent permanent partial disability to the back.

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